

AGENDA FOR LAKE COMMITTEE

A Lake Committee meeting will be held on **Thursday**, **July 10**, **2025 at** <u>5:00 PM</u> in the **Council Chambers at City Hall**, **819 Superior Avenue**, **Tomah**, **WI**.

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/2708608080?pwd=ZTZ0cmlLVEFEb1dzVDNwdi91UHFYQT09

Meeting ID: 270 860 8080 Passcode: 206751

Dial by your location 1 312 626 6799

1. Call to Order / Roll Call

- 2. Approve Minutes May Minutes
- 3. Warden Update
- 4. Weed Management

Approve Solitude Curly-Leaf Pond Weed Application Addendum

Approve Payment of Solitude Weed Application

Update on Curly Leaf Application

Tri Marine Application Butts Park Sediment Trap

Update on Golden Sands Weed Survey

Sediment Trap Timeline

Weed Tool Removal Program

- 5. DNR Fishery Survey Report 2017-2022 Tommy Hill
 Survey Report
- 6. Adaptive Management
- 7. Climate Change Task Force Update
- 8. Dam Lightning Strike Repair
- 9. Boat Dock Approvals 801 Lakeside Dr
- 10. Addition of Boat Dock at Butts Park Location and Funding
- 11. 50th Anniversary of Lake District
- 12. Discussion on Chemical Monitoring Stations at Lake Inlets

1

13. Chairman Updates

Lake Committee – July 10, 2025

14. Future Meeting Date: September 18, 2025

15. Adjourn

NOTICE: It is possible that a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at the above-stated meeting to gather information. No action will be taken by any governmental body at the above-stated meeting other than the governmental body specifically referred to above in this notice. Please note that, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information or to request this service, contact Becki Weyer, City Clerk, at 819 Superior Avenue, Tomah, WI 54660.

Minutes FOR LAKE COMMITTEE

A Lake Committee was held on **Thursday, May 15, 2025** at <u>5:00 PM</u> in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 819 Superior Avenue, Tomah, WI.

Call to Order / Roll Call

Roll call was taken with Commissioners, Lamont Kiefer, Joanne Klinker, Lee Lang, and Kevin Arkeketa, Kim Mello and Richard Yarrington present. Duane Chapman arrived late. Also, present Nick Morales, Patrick Seybert, Jim Kannenberg, Chris Hamerla and Chris Broch.

Approve Minutes

Motion by Lang, Seconded by Arkeketa to approve March 2025 minutes. All ayes. Motion carried.

Acknowledge Member Reappointments

Arkeketa & Mello accepted 3-year term reappointments. Yarrington was reappointed for a 1-year term. Klinker gave her resignation effective immediately but will follow through with the 50th Anniversary Celebration.

Chairman – Kiefer has offered to continue as the Chairman. Unanimous vote for Kiefer to continue as Chairman.

Vice Chairman – Unanimous vote for Mello to continue as Vice Chairman.

Warden Update

Fishing has been good. DNR was doing some netting early this spring, no results on the survey at this time.

Weed Management

Golden Sands Weed Survey – Curley leaf pond survey completed last week. The water clarity was good, able to see 3-4 ft down. Majority of the Curley leaf is located on the perimeter of the lake mainly on the West side of the lake. Full Lake Aquatic Plant Survey will take place in June 2025.

Solitude Lake Management Proposal – Permit was delayed but is in and waiting for approval. Discussion on which areas are best to treat for curly leaf.

DNR Input - No update

Weed Tool Removal Program – Tools have been purchased for the program. Perimeters on getting a plan in place on how the program will work.

Sediment Trap Timeline - Cleaning out sediment trap in Fall of 2025.

Adaptive Management

No Update

Climate Change Task Force Update

No Update

Dam Lightning Strike Repair – June

Panel was repaired, motor should be here and installed in June

Dam Inspection 2025 – Completed

Completed but the report has not been reported at this time.

Boat Dock Approvals

1204 Lakeview Dr - Oleinik

Lake Committee – May 15, 2025

Motion by Chapman, seconded by Arkeketa to approve the boat dock application. All ayes. Motion carried. Boat dock application will need to be updated.

50th Anniversary of Lake District

Planning is going well with a coloring contest, games and prizes.

Chairman Updates

Future Meeting Date: July 17, 2025

Adjourn

Motion by Yarrington seconded by Arkeketa to adjourn the meeting.



AMENDMENT TO ONE-TIME SERVICES AGREEMENT

PROPERTY NAME: Lake Tomah CUSTOMER NAME: Lake Tomah SERVICE DESCRIPTION: June 2025 One Time Curly Lake Treatment at Lake Tomah (15 acres) EFFECTIVE DATE: **April 14, 2025** SUBMITTED TO: Jim Bonebrake SUBMITTED BY: Christopher Broch, Business Development Consultant

This Amendment to the One-Time Services Agreement (the "Amendment") is dated as of this <u>20th</u> day of June 2025 (the "Amendment Effective Date"), by and between the Customer identified above ("Customer"), and SOLitude Lake Management, LLC ("SOLitude" or "Company"). By executing this Amendment, Customer and SOLitude agree to make certain amendments to the One-Time Services Agreement executed between the parties on April 17, 2025 (the "Services Agreement") as further described herein.

- 1. <u>SERVICES</u>. SOLitude will provide the Additional Services at the Customer's property as described in Schedule A attached hereto.
- 2. <u>PAYMENT TERMS.</u> The Services Agreement pricing is **\$9,450.00**. The Customer shall pay 50% of this service fee upon execution of this Amendment. The balance (remaining 50% of fee) will be invoiced to Customer by SOLitude following completion of the Services.
- 3. MISCELLANEOUS.
 - a. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Services Agreement.
 - b. The remainder of the Services Agreement shall be and remain in full force and effect and unmodified, except as the same is specifically modified or amended hereby. All covenants, terms, obligations and conditions of the Agreement which are not modified or amended herein are hereby ratified and confirmed.
 - c. This Amendment may be executed in multiple counterparts by the parties, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which, taken together, shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 - d. The parties acknowledge and agree that this Amendment may be executed or accepted using electronic or facsimile signatures, and that such a signature shall be legally binding to the same extent as a written cursive signature by a party's authorized representative.

[SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE]

Services Contract Lake Tomah (22159) - CB Page 2 of 3



By signing below, the Parties agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Amendment and any accompanying exhibits as of the Amendment Effective Date.

ACCEPTED AND APPROVED:

SOLITUDE LAKE MANAGEMENT, LLC.	LAKE TOMAH		
Signature:	Signature:		
Name:	Name:		
Title:	Title:		
Date:	Date:		
Please Remit All Payments to:	Customer's Address for Notice Purposes:		
SOLitude Lake Management, LLC 1320 Brookwood Drive, Suite H Little Rock AR 72202			
Please Mail All Notices and Agreements to:			
SOLitude Lake Management, LLC 1253 Jensen Drive, Suite 103			

Virginia Beach, VA 23451



SCHEDULE A - SERVICES

Task 2 Aquatic Curlyleaf Pondweed Control:

1. Any growth of Curly-leaf Pondweed found in the Lake (15 acres) shall be treated and controlled through the application of an appropriate aquatic contact herbicide at time of application in **June**.

General Qualifications:

- 1. Company is a licensed pesticide applicator in the state in which service is to be provided.
- 2. Individual Applicators are Certified Pesticide Applicators in Aquatics, Public Health, Forestry, Right of Way, and Turf/Ornamental as required in the state in which service is to be provided.
- 3. Company is a SePRO Preferred Applicator and dedicated Steward of Water. Each individual applicator has been trained and educated in the water quality testing and analysis required for prescriptive site-specific water quality management and utilizes an integrated approach that encompasses all aspects of ecologically balanced management. Each applicator has received extensive training in the proper selection, use, and application of all aquatic herbicides, algaecides, adjuvants, and water quality enhancement products necessary to properly treat our Customers' lakes and ponds as part of an overall integrated pest management program.
- 4. Company guarantees that all products used for treatment are EPA registered and labeled as appropriate and safe for use in lakes, ponds, and other aquatic sites, and are being applied in a manner consistent with their labeling.
- 5. All pesticide applications made directly to the water or along the shoreline for the control of algae, aquatic weeds, or other aquatic pests as specified in this contract will meet or exceed all of the Company's legal regulatory requirements as set forth by the EPA and related state agencies for NPDES and FIFRA. Companies will perform treatments that are consistent with NPDES compliance standards as applicable in and determined by the specific state in which treatments are made. All staff will be fully trained to perform all applications in compliance with all federal, state, and local law.
- 6. Company will furnish the personnel, vehicles, boats, equipment, materials, and other items required to provide the foregoing at its expense. The application method and equipment (boat, ATV, backpack, etc.) used is determined by our technician at the time of the treatment to ensure the most effective method is provided for optimal results.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES Fishery Survey Report for Lake Tomah Monroe County, WI 2017-2022

Waterbody Identification Code: 1342100



Photo Credit: DNR Staff



Tommy Hill Fisheries Biologist February 2024

Table of Contents

Executive Summary1
Introduction4
Lake Characteristics4
Management History4
Sedimentation & Non-point Pollution4
Eutrophication & Carp5
Fisheries Management5
Survey Effort6
Late Spring Netting Surveys (SNII)6
Late Spring Electrofishing Surveys (SEII)6
Methods6
Survey & Aging Methods6
Statistical Methods7
Results & Discussion
Panfish8
Bluegill8
Black Crappie8
White Crappie9
Yellow Perch10
Gamefish10
Largemouth Bass10
Northern Pike 11
Summary12
Recommendations
Acknowledgements13
References14
Tables & Figures16

Executive Summary

The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources conducted a comprehensive survey of Lake Tomah from 2017 to 2022. The primary focus of this survey was to estimate the abundance and size structure of the largemouth bass, northern pike and panfish populations to provide management recommendations going forward. Spring netting surveys estimated relative abundance of black crappie and northern pike are above the 75th percentile of similar Wisconsin waters. Spring electrofishing surveys estimated relative abundance of largemouth bass and bluegill are above the 75th percentile of similar Wisconsin waters. All previously stated fisheries provide targetable populations of quality fish or better to anglers. There is also a recently introduced yellow perch population increasing in abundance, but size structure is poor. The Lake Tomah fishery has experienced a tumultuous history of management intervention but continues to support a high abundance of desirable fishes. Management recommendations: support partners that work to improve water quality and lake habitat, halt stocking of fish due to natural reproduction sustaining current fisheries, continue surveying efforts on the existing three-year rotation and consider collecting angler use and harvest information to guide future management decisions.

Introduction

LAKE CHARACTERISTICS

Lake Tomah is a 245-acre impoundment on the South Fork of the Lemonweir River located in the city of Tomah (2021 population = 9,459), Monroe County (Table 1). The Little Lemonweir River watershed is 218 square miles composed of 33% forest, 28% agriculture, 17% wetland, 15% grassland and 7% other. A 2007 survey of Tomah residents found that 80% use the lake one or more times a year. Monroe County and adjacent counties have very few lakes, thus nearby population centers likely lead to additional usage on Lake Tomah. Higher populated cities within a 30-minute drive include Black River Falls (2021 population = 3,514), Sparta (2021 population = 9,955) and Mauston (2021 population = 4,317). Fort McCoy, a large military base, is also within 12 miles of Lake Tomah. There are four boat landings and two public parks along the shoreline, which is entirely owned by the city of Tomah, to accommodate public use.

The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR) lake classification system developed by Rypel et al. (2019) designates Lake Tomah as simple-warm-dark. Lake Tomah average depth is 4 feet and max depth is 10 feet, except for a small 19-foot hole in the eastern arm (Fig. 1). The bottom substrate is 50% sand and 50% muck. Gamefish species include the following: panfish (primarily black crappie *Pomoxis nigromaculatus*, bluegill *Lepomis macrochirus* and yellow perch *Perca flavescens*, largemouth bass *Micropterus salmoides* and northern pike *Esox lucius*. Lake Tomah weakly stratifies from June through August (summer). In the summers of 2017 through 2019 dissolved Oxygen and water temperature fluctuated between 9 to 15 milligrams per liter and 66 to 82 degrees Fahrenheit (Table 2). Secchi disk, chlorophyll a and total phosphorus summer averages from 2017 through 2022 ranged between 1.5 to 2.6 feet, 54 to 86 and 136 to 434 respectively.

MANAGEMENT HISTORY

Lake Tomah has experienced a tumultuous history of management intervention and subsequential ecosystem shifts.

SEDIMENTATION & NON-POINT POLLUTION

Since Lake Tomah's impoundment in 1936, there have been numerous efforts to limit siltation and nonpoint source pollution. The first large-scale dredging project in 1966 removed 40,000 yards of material. Concern over runoff siltation quickly became synchronous with concern over water quality. The Lake Tomah Protection and Rehabilitation District (PRD) was created in 1974. By 1990, a watershed-centered solution approach had gained traction leading to the development of the Lake Tomah Nonpoint Source Control Plan. Evaluations estimated that 80% (2,200 tons) of total sediment influx was due to agricultural practices (Peterson et al. 1997). It has since been calculated the Nonpoint Source Control Plan has reduced erosion by 3,373 tons (Tomah Lake Committee, 2008 Lake Tomah Management Plan). The PRD's work with Monroe County Land Conservation Department encouraging surrounding

11

landowners to utilize better agricultural practices has also significantly reduced erosion and improved water quality. In 1993 the city of Tomah planned a five-milliondollar lake rehabilitation effort. The lake was drawdown to repair the dam from previous flood damage, and to limit future dredging costs a sediment trap was built. Concerted collaborative efforts of resource agencies and local stakeholders have improved siltation and non-point pollution, but WisCALMs phosphorus impairment thresholds for recreation and aquatic life were exceeded during testing in 1998 and again in the recent test of 2018, demonstrating these issues continue to be a detriment to Lake Tomah.

EUTROPHICATION & CARP

Lake Tomah water clarity has fluctuated over the years due to changes in nutrient loading through nonpoint pollution and the suspension of sediments via common carp Cyprinus carpio. Initially, Lake Tomah water clarity was dictated by nutrient loading, which led to expansive aquatic plant growth, found as both filamentous algae and rooted aquatic macrophytes (Tomah Lake Committee, unpublished). Chemical treatments were utilized to limit lake vegetation and improve water clarity for recreational enjoyment from 1966 to 1984. Chemical treatments have since been limited to the lower portion of the reservoir to minimize deleterious effects on key areas of fish and wildlife habitat. When common carp became present in Lake Tomah. aquatic plant growth experienced a dramatic decline. Common carp uproot aquatic macrophytes suspending sediment, which raises lake turbidity and decreases light penetration. Aquatic rooted plant growth serves many necessary roles for an aquatic ecosystem, and thus the disappearance after the introduction of common carp can negatively impact a fishery. A lake-wide rotenone treatment to eradicate common carp occurred in conjunction with the 1993 drawdown. This treatment was unsuccessful in eradicating common carp. By 2009, Lake Tomah was almost entirely devoid of aquatic rooted plants. Attempts to remove common carp using electrofishing after the 1993 treatment were unsuccessful, thus another rotenone treatment was prescribed in 2009. After the successful eradication of common carp in the 2009 rotenone treatment, the most recent aquatic plant surveys from 2011 to 2014 indicate aquatic plant growth has returned (DNR, 2014 Aquatic Plant Report). The return of aquatic vegetation is considered an improvement in fish habitat within Lake Tomah.

FISHERIES MANAGEMENT

A large amount of fish habitat (cribs and riprap), both natural and artificial, was added during the 2009 drawdown with the hope of facilitating strong recruitment of stockings and congregate fish for future angling opportunities (Sass et al. 2022). This was supplementary to the abundance of habitat previously added by anglers and government agencies over the years. Fishing regulations have been another tool used to manipulate Lake Tomah's fishery. Panfish regulations have always followed the statewide fishing regulation of a mixed daily bag of 25 fish in total. The largemouth bass minimum length limit was changed in 2015 from the state-wide regulation of 14 inches with a daily bag of five fish during harvest season to 18 inches with a daily bag of one fish during harvest season (Table 3). Lake Tomah has historically been deemed a trophy northern pike fishery and this continues to be a focal point for fisheries management (Fig. 2). The Lake Tomah northern pike minimum length limit initially changed in 2015 from the southern zone statewide regulation of 26 inches with a daily bag of two fish during harvest season to 32 inches with a daily bag of one fish during harvest season and was again raised in 2022 to 40 inches with a daily bag of one fish. After the 2009 rotenone treatment, which resulted in the complete removal of fish from Lake Tomah, panfish, largemouth bass and northern pike were stocked (Table 4). The following fish species are now present in Lake Tomah: black bullhead Ameiurus melas, brown bullhead Ameiurus nebulosus, channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus, creek chub Semotilus atromaculatus, golden shiner Notemiqonus crysoleucas, pumpkinseed Lepomis gibbosus, walleve Sander vitreus, white crappie Pomoxis annularis, white sucker Catostomus commersonii and yellow bullhead Amerius natalis (Table 5). High recreational usage is likely the cause for the unintentional introduction of invasive species as well: Chinese mystery snail Bellamya chinensis, curly-leaf pondweed Potamogeton crispus, Eurasian water milfoil Myriophyllum spicatum and rusty crayfish Faxonius rusticus.

SURVEY EFFORT

LATE SPRING NETTING SURVEYS (SNII)

On 3/20/2017 six nets were set and checked over three nights. On the second day, one net was pulled and reset on the third day for a total of 17 net nights of effort.

On 4/23/2018 six nets were set and checked over three nights for a total of 18 net nights of effort.

On 4/13/2022 six nets were set and checked over five nights. On the 5th day, one net was pulled for a total of 29 net nights of effort.

LATE SPRING ELECTROFISHING SURVEYS (SEII)

On 05/09/2017 electrofished using Direct Current Pulse at 260 volts, 10 Amps, 80 pulses and a 20% duty cycle for 97 minutes over 2.75 miles targeting gamefish (largemouth bass, northern pike) then 26 minutes for 0.5 miles targeting all species.

On 05/10/2022 electrofished using Direct Current Pulse at 210 volts, 10 Amps, 80 pulses and a 20% duty cycle for 96 minutes over 2.91 miles targeting gamefish then 11 minutes for 0.25 miles targeting all species.

Methods

SURVEY & AGING METHODS

Fisheries surveys were conducted consistent with statewide fisheries sampling protocol unless stated otherwise. SNII surveys utilized fyke nets (3/4 in. mesh, 4 ft. width, 6 ft. height, 75 ft. lead)y, set perpendicular to the shore, checked after approximately 24 hours of soak time. Surveys were intended to target yellow perch, black crappie, white crappie and northern pike. SEII surveys utilized nightelectrofishing, completed with a mini-boom boat carrying one dipper using 3/8 mesh dip netting. SEII surveys were split into two runs: a majority of lake shoreline targeting gamefish and a smaller portion of shoreline targeting all species. The distance in the 2022 all-species run was mistakenly cut short of the typical protocol. Gamefish and panfish species were measured to the nearest 0.1 inch, weighed to the nearest gram then released. All non-gamefish species were counted. Both scales and anal fin ray aging structures were collected from northern pike captured in the 2022 survey. Structures were aged separately by two readers based on the first or second anal fin ray. If there was a reading disagreement, agers would take a second look together and decide on a consensus age. Scales were used to verify the ages of younger fish when necessary.

STATISTICAL METHODS

All analyses were performed and graphically displayed using R Statistical Software (v.2023.06.2+561, R Core Team 2023).

The SNII catch data was used to develop size structure length frequency graphs with annual length medians for yellow perch, black crappie, white crappie and northern pike in the 2017, 2018 and 2022 survey years. Proportional stock densities were calculated for preferred sizes of fish from the Gablehouse (1984) equation

$$PSD - P = \left(\frac{\# of fish \ge Preferred size}{Number of fish \ge Stock size}\right) x \ 100$$

The average catch per net night was compared amongst years and to Wisconsin standards for simple-warm-dark waters established by Rypel et al. (2019). Relative weights (Neumann et al. 2012) of species were calculated by sex from a random portion of fish captured during the 2017 and 2018 surveys following the equation

$$Relative Weight = \frac{Observed weight}{Standard weight} x 100$$

Northern pike display female-biased sexual size dimorphism thus size structure and relative weight data were separated by sex. Northern pike aging data from 2022 was used to create an age frequency graph stacked by sex with median northern pike age. The same data was used to create Von Bertalanffy growth equations following (Isely and Grabowski 2007)

$$l_t = L_{\infty} \left(1 - e^{-K(t-t_0)} \right)$$

where l_t is the fish length at age, L_{∞} is the theoretical maximum fish length, K is the growth rate, t is fish age and t_0 is the curve intercept. Parameters of the model were estimated by sex for northern pike and compared to Wisconsin standards for simple-warm-dark waters established by Rypel et al. (2019). The 95% confidence bands were developed using a bootstrapping method (Efron and Tibshirami 1998). Values outside

the sampled age range were extrapolated, however a lack of older female northern pike in the sample prevented the model from converging and estimating a reasonable value for mean theoretical maximum fish length (i.e. L_{∞}).

The SEII catch data was used to develop size structure length frequency graphs with annual length medians for largemouth bass and bluegill in 2017 and 2022. Proportional stock densities were calculated for preferred sizes of fish (Gablehouse 1984). The average catch per mile was compared among years and to Wisconsin standards for simple-warm-dark waters established by Rypel et al. (2019). Relative weights (Neumann et al. 2012) for species were calculated from a random portion of fish captured during the 2017 survey and the distribution was graphed with a median value.

Results & Discussion

PANFISH

BLUEGILL

In the 2017 SEII survey 151, bluegill were caught with a median length of 6.1 inches, a PSD-P of 0 and a relative abundance of 302 fish per mile (Fig. 3, Fig. 4). The 2022 SEII survey captured 370 bluegill with a median length of 5.9 inches, a PSD-P of 3.6 and a relative abundance of 1480 fish per mile. A total of 50 fish were weighed with a median relative weight of 0.97 (Fig. 5).

The relative abundance of bluegill in Lake Tomah was above the 75th percentile of similar Wisconsin waters throughout the duration of the study. Relative weights from 2017 fish were excellent, suggesting intraspecific competition was not leading to poor growth. Even after the abundance quadrupled, the 2022 size structure did not change; over 50 percent of bluegill were above quality size showing Lake Tomah could still support the high abundance without evidence of stunting. SEII surveys recorded fish of all size classes and bluegill have not been stocked since 2011. Bluegill are being supported exclusively by natural reproduction. If anglers desire to increase the amount of preferred length (8 inches) or larger fish through a potential regulation change, it would be advised to collect aging structures and develop a growth curve first. Given the highly productive bluegill population present we do not recommend regulation changes at this time, but rather maintain the current regulation, which is not limiting the productive quality fishery that is available.

BLACK CRAPPIE

In the 2017 SNII survey, 73 black crappie were caught with a median length of 8.3 inches, a PSD-P of 2.8 and a relative abundance of four fish per net night (Fig. 6, Fig. 7). The 2018 SNII survey captured 269 black crappie with a median length of 9.0 inches, a PSD-P of 3.7 and a relative abundance of 15 fish per net night. The 2022 SNII survey captured 180 black crappie with a median length of 6.4 inches, a PSD-P of 15.6

and a relative abundance of six fish per net night. A total of 25 fish were weighed with a median relative weight of 0.88 (Fig. 8).

Black crappie were likely introduced through unauthorized stockings; the population is supported by natural reproduction. Highly variable black crappie recruitment, strongly influenced by environmental conditions, is a widely accepted expectation and should not draw concern (Pope and Willis 1998, Dockendorf and Allen 2005). Overall relative abundance was above the 75th percentile of similar Wisconsin waters throughout the duration of the study. Relative weights of 2017 fish indicated slightly above-average condition; however, the sample size is limited and therefore assumptions based on the results should be limited. The proportion of preferred length (\geq 10 inches) fish has increased over time, but black crappie population volatility and length frequency graphs imply size structure is likely being driven by the strong year classes. Black crappie in Lake Tomah have shown to reach memorable sizes (\geq 12 inches) and managing for more fish of this length may be desirable. Crappie regulations, especially to develop a trophy fishery, are more commonly accepted by angling communities than other panfish species (Boxrucker and Irwin 2002). Before considering a potential regulation change, aging structures should be collected to develop a growth curve and creel information should be collected to estimate angling mortality.

WHITE CRAPPIE

In the 2017 SNII survey, 221 white crappie were caught with a median length of 8.6 inches, a PSD-P of 0.5 and a relative abundance of 13 fish per net night (Fig. 9, Fig. 10). The 2018 SNII survey captured 131 white crappie with a median length of 9.5 inches, a PSD-P of 22.9 and a relative abundance of seven fish per net night. The 2022 SNII survey captured 4 white crappie with a median length of 11.5 inches, a PSD-P of 50 and a relative abundance of 0.1 fish per net night. A total of 50 fish were weighed with a median relative weight of 1.04 (Fig. 11).

As with black crappie, white crappie were likely introduced through unauthorized stockings. It is unclear why the white crappie population appears to have declined in recent SNII surveys. One explanation could be the stocked year classes did not successfully natural reproduce. Another explanation is the decline of white crappie abundance mirrored the establishment of a yellow perch fishery. Excellent relative weights from 2017 do not indicate interspecific competition was pushing white crappie mortality, but yellow perch did not reach abundant numbers until the 2018 and 2022 survey years. Unkenholz (1971) showed yellow perch and white crappie share overlapping diet items, but little research exists demonstrating the negative effects of direct competition between the two species. As white crappie density decreased their size structure improved, but the current abundance is too low to support a targetable fishery. We do not recommend any future management actions (e.g., stocking) to support the illegally introduced white crappie population.

YELLOW PERCH

In the 2017 SNII survey, one yellow perch was caught for a relative abundance of 0.1 fish per net night (Fig. 12, Fig. 13). The 2018 SNII survey captured 70 yellow perch with a median length of 7.8 inches, a PSD-P of 1.4 and a relative abundance of 4 fish per net night. The 2022 SNII survey captured 181 yellow perch with a median length of 7.3 inches, a PSD-P of 2.2 and a relative abundance of 6 fish per net night.

Yellow perch are another species introduced by unauthorized stockings. The relative abundance of vellow perch has increased substantially over the study duration. climbing to above the 75th percentile of similar Wisconsin waters in 2022. The introduction year of yellow perch is not known. Population abundance increase could be attributed to the traditional expansion of a new species. The vellow perch population is comprised of primarily small fish, possibly the result of a young population, or signifying intraspecific density dependence effects may be occurring. There is no recorded date of introduction, or condition and growth metrics to base these speculations on. Yellow perch are displaying abundance over many size classes throughout the study demonstrating successful natural reproduction. Convincing anglers to harvest enough small yellow perch to limit density-dependent effects may be difficult (Lyons et al. 2017). Regulation changes are not currently recommended to attempt improvement of size structure. Yellow perch are also a preferred food for northern pike. Considering Lake Tomah is currently managed for northern pike, the establishment of a vellow perch population should aid the trophy northern pike fishery.

GAMEFISH

LARGEMOUTH BASS

In the 2017 SEII survey, 168 largemouth bass were caught with a median length of 14.9 inches, a PSD-P of 47 and a relative abundance of 61 fish per mile (Fig. 14 and 15). The 2022 SEII survey captured 325 largemouth bass with a median length of 12.3 inches, a PSD-P of 8 and a relative abundance of 112 fish per mile. A total of 54 fish were weighed with a median relative weight of 1.07 (Fig. 16).

The relative abundance of largemouth bass surveys are above the 75th percentile of similar Wisconsin waters. In 2017, exceptional relative weights and a high PSD-P indicated condition was good, and not limited by the highly abundant population. The drop in PSD-P in the 2022 survey is driven by an increased abundance of smaller fish in the system. SEII surveys collected a high abundance of mature larger-sized fish likely capable of spawning. Stocking efforts may be having negligible effects. It is recommended to cease stocking to accurately monitor the largemouth bass fishery for self-sustaining natural reproduction. The 18-inch minimum length limit introduced in 2015 may have improved the abundance of 18-inch or greater largemouth bass in Lake Tomah catching four more fish than the previous zero from the 2017 survey. Another explanation is the largemouth bass population was still young at the time of the 2017 survey and had time to grow older and larger by the

2022 survey. More fishing seasons followed by future fisheries surveys are needed to confidently assess the effects the regulation is having on the population. Density-dependent effects are common under the use of minimum length limits (Wilde 1997, Hill et al. 2022). If stunting becomes a concern, weight and aging structures should be collected before a regulation change is considered to see if growth curves and conditions support the decision. Largemouth bass are becoming a catch-and-release fishery (Arlinghaus 2007, Gaeta 2013, Sass and Shaw 2020) often minimizing regulatory effects regardless of change. It is also important to note before a regulatory change of predatory species, shifts can have negative effects on panfish population size structures (Carlson and Hoyer 2023).

NORTHERN PIKE

In the 2017 SNII survey, 193 northern pike were caught with a median length of 27.5 inches, a PSD-P of 44 and a relative abundance of 11 fish per net night (Fig. 17, Fig. 18). The 2018 SNII survey captured 132 northern pike with a median length of 25.8 inches, a PSD-P of 22.7 and a relative abundance of seven fish per net night. The 2022 SNII survey captured 240 northern pike with a median length of 22.7 inches, a PSD-P of 10.4 and a relative abundance of eight fish per net night. A total of 256 fish were weighed with a median relative weight of male and female northern pike of 0.88 (N= 168) and 1.01 (N= 62), respectively (Fig. 19). A total of 115 northern pike were aged with a median of age 3. Of the 115 aged fish 95 were male and 13 were female (Fig. 20). Von Bertalanffy growth curves for both sexes were greater than the median of northern pike found in similar Wisconsin waters (Rypel et al. 2019). Male growth equation estimates were L inf = 26.93, K = 0.63, t0 = -0.28, (95% confidence intervals presented in Table 6). The female growth equation parameters did not converge on realistic values due to few older fish being sampled (i.e., L inf = 99.86, K = 0.07, t0 = -1.55, Fig. 21).

The relative abundance of northern pike was above the 75th percentile of similar Wisconsin waters throughout the survey. SNII surveys recorded fish of all size classes and northern pike have not been stocked since 2012. Northern pike are being supported exclusively by natural reproduction. Overall size structure has decreased, also evident by a drop in PSD-P and the disappearance of large (>32 inches) fish. The population has shifted even heavier towards male-dominated than the original 2017 and 2018 surveys showed. The Von Bertalanffy growth equation demonstrates that only older larger female northern pike reached the previous minimum length limit of 32 inches. The age frequency graph supports the disappearance of these older larger females from the fishery. The decrease in overall size structure is likely a response to the overharvest of the larger female northern pike during the 32-inch minimum length limit. Relative weights from 2017 fish, when abundance was highest, were slightly above average for males and excellent for females indicating that density dependence effects were not a factor in the size structure decrease. Growth curves further demonstrate a lack of density-dependent effects because northern pike are growing on par or above the state median for waters with similar conditions (Fig. 25). The new 40-inch minimum length limit will begin to give the large female fish time to

reach trophy lengths. Stockpiling under minimum length limits is a common problem for northern pike and may negatively affect the overall size structure of the fishery (Pierce 2010). The current regulation should be monitored closely to evaluate whether population goals are being met and whether alternative regulation changes would be appropriate (e.g. a harvest slot or maximum length limit).

SUMMARY

Lake Tomah is a shallow man-made lake in a highly agricultural watershed, therefore combatting sedimentation and eutrophication is an expectation. The city of Tomah and involved stakeholders have spent substantial amounts of time and money protecting Lake Tomah. As a result, significant improvements in water quality and fisheries have occurred. Common carp have not re-colonized Lake Tomah since the rotenone treatment was completed in 2009. This has allowed aquatic rooted vegetation to reestablish, greatly increasing littoral fish habitat, and resulting in the redistribution of fish biomass to centrarchid species (e.g., largemouth bass and bluegill). Additional habitat structures such as fish sticks, fish cribs and rock piles could increase fish productivity as well as congregate fish to improve angler opportunities (Sass et al. 2022). Fish stocking and unauthorized transfers of fish have established naturally reproducing populations of desirable gamefish and panfish species as well as less desirable non-gamefish species. Panfish and gamefish surveys indicate that abundances are above 75% of state waters with similar conditions. There is a targetable population of quality harvestable-sized panfish, especially bluegill and black crappie. There is also a highly dense fishery for quality largemouth bass and northern pike. The trophy northern pike fishery is likely to rebound with the new regulation protecting older female fish reaching larger sizes. Overall, compared to similar lakes, the Lake Tomah fishery is performing excellent, especially considering the difficult challenges it faces from potential high recreational usage and its watershed impacts.

Recommendations

- 1. Continue to support internal and external partners that are working to improve water quality and lake habitat.
 - a. Consider adding lake habitat structure (tree drops, fish cribs, rock piles) and work with partners to promote vegetated riparian buffers. If lake basin habitat structure additions are completed natural materials should be used (Cooke et al. 2003).
- 2. Future stocking of fish is not recommended due to the natural reproduction sustaining current fisheries.
 - a. Halt stocking of largemouth bass and monitor recruitment with an SEII survey the following year to determine if future stocking is necessary.

- b. Conduct angler outreach to prevent additional fish translocations and invasive species introduction using signage at major lake access areas.
- c. Lake Tomah is a shallow, warm eutrophic reservoir not suited for the survival and success of walleye (Raabe et al. 2020). Further evidence can be taken from the unsuccessful stocking of walleye into Lake Neshonoc, which has produced no targetable fishery for anglers despite extensive stocking. Walleye stocking in lakes highly abundant with largemouth bass has also been shown to not be cost-effective (Fayram et al. 2005).
- 3. Continue SNII and SEII surveys on the existing three-year rotation. Consider collecting angler use and harvest information to better understand the potential impact of current or proposed angling regulations.
 - a. During planned rotation surveys collect black crappie, largemouth bass and northern pike aging structures in addition to normal data collection to develop growth curves that aid angling regulation management decisions.
- 4. Future consideration to alter harvest regulations for black crappie, largemouth bass and northern pike. A change in harvest regulation should be supported by age and growth data, harvest mortality estimates and public support for potential changes.

Acknowledgments

Special thanks to Kirk Olson for leading Lake Tomah fisheries management, as well as Kevin Mauel and Ryan Olson for assisting in field surveys, fish aging, and data entry.

References

- Arlinghaus, R., S. J. Cooke, J. Lyman, D. Policansky, A. Schwab, C. Suski, S. G. Sutton, and E. B. Thorstad. 2007. Understanding the complexity of catch-and-release in recreational fishing: An integrative synthesis of global knowledge from historical, ethical, social, and biological perspectives. Reviews in Fisheries Science 15(1-2):75–167.
- **Boxrucker, J., E. and Irwin.** 2002. Challenges of crappie management continuing into the 21st century. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 22:1334–1339.
- **Carlson A.K. and M. V. Hoyer.** 2023. Bluegill population demographics as related to abiotic and biotic factors in Florida lakes. Fishes 8(2):100.
- **Cooke, S. J., M. L. Piczak, J. C. Vermaire, and A. E. Kirkwood.** 2023. On the troubling use of plastic 'habitat' structures for fish in freshwater ecosystems or when restoration is just littering. FACETS 8:1–19.
- **Dockendorf, K. J., and M. S. Allen.** 2005. Age-0 black crappie abundance and size in relation to zooplankton density, stock abundance, and water clarity in three Florida lakes. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 134:172–183.
- **Efron, B., and R. J. Tibshirami.** 1998. An introduction to the bootstrap. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- **Fayram, A. H., M. J. Hansen, and T. J. Ehlinger.** 2005. interactions between walleyes and four fish species with implications for walleye stocking. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 25(4):1321–1330.
- **Gabelhouse Jr., D. W.** 1984. A length-categorization system to assess fish stocks. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 4:273–285.
- Gaeta, J. W., B. Beardmore, A. W. Latzka, B. Provencher, and S. R. Carpenter. 2013. Catch-and-release rates of sport fishes in northern Wisconsin from an angler diary survey. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 33:606–614.
- Gwinn, D.C., M.S. Allen, F.D. Johnston, P. Brown, C.R. Todd, and R. Arlinghaus. 2015. Rethinking length-based fisheries regulations: the value of protecting old and large fish with harvest slots. Fish and Fisheries 16:259–281.
- **Isely, J. J., and T. B. Grabowski.** 2007. Age and growth. Pages 187–228 *in* C. S. Guy and M. L. Brown, editors. Analysis and interpretation of freshwater fisheries data. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Hill, T. H., J. Parkos III, A. Porreca, C. Suski, and C. Miller. 2022. Inland recreational fisheries: harvest regulations effectiveness and analysis of angling community sociological factors. Master's Thesis. University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign.
- **Lyons, J., A. L. Rypel, J. F. Hansen, and D. C. Rowe.** 2017. Fillet weight and fillet yield: new metrics for the management of panfish and other consumption-oriented recreational fisheries. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 37:550–557.
- Neumann, R. M., C. S. Guy, and D. W. Willis. 2012. Length, weight, and associated indices. Pages 637 – 676 in A. V. Zale, D. L. Parrish, and T. M. Sutton, editors. Fisheries techniques, 3rd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.

Peterson, C. E., B. H. Shaw, N. E. Spangenburg, K. A. Lemke, and D. Ozsvath. 1997. Lake Tomah priority watershed water quality evaluation Tomah, Wisconsin. Master's Thesis. University of Wisconsin – Stevens Point, Stevens Point.

- **Pierce, R.B. 2010.** Long-term evaluations of length limit regulations for northern pike in Minnesota. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 30:412–432.
- **Pope, K. L., and D. W. Willis.** 1998. Early life history and recruitment of black crappie (*Pomoxis nigromaculatus*) in two South Dakota waters. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 7:56–68.
- **R Core Team.** 2023. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienne, Austria.
- Raabe, J. K., J. A. VanDeHey, D. L. Zentner, T. K. Cross, and G. G. Sass. 2020. Walleye inland lake habitat: considerations for successful natural recruitment and stocking in north central America. Lake and Reservoir Management 36(4):335–359.
- Rypel, A. L., T. D. Simonson, D. L. Oele, J. D. T. Griffin, T. P. Parks, D. Seibel, C. M. Roberts, S. Toshner, L. S. Tate, and J. Lyons. 2019. flexible classification of Wisconsin lakes for improved fisheries conservation and management. Fisheries 44(5):225–238.
- Sass, G. G., and S. L. Shaw. 2020. Catch-and-release influences on inland recreational fisheries. Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture 28:211–227.
- Sass, G. G., S. L. Shaw, C. C. Fenstermacher, A. P. Porreca, and J. J. Parkos. 2023. Structural habitat in lakes and reservoirs: physical and biological considerations for implementation. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 43(2):290–303.
- **Tomah Lake Committee.** 2008. Lake Tomah management plan: a strategy to improve the recreational use and ecological value of Lake Tomah. Tomah Lake Committee, Tomah, Wisconsin.
- **Unkenholz, D.** 1971. Food habits of black crappies, white crappies, yellow perch and white suckers in a small impoundment in northeastern South Dakota. Master's Thesis. South Dakota State University.
- **Wilde, G. R.** 1997. Largemouth bass fishery responses to length limits. Fisheries 22:14–23.
- **Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources.** 1994. Nonpoint source control plan for the Lake Tomah priority lake project. WI DNR, Report WR-365-94, Madison, Wisconsin.
- **Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources.** 2014. Aquatic plant community of Lake Tomah, Monroe County, Wisconsin. WI DNR, Aquatic Plant Report, Eau Claire, Wisconsin.

Tables & Figures

Table 1. Lake Tomah waterbody characteristics.

County	Monroe	
Acres	245	
Watershed (sq. mi)	218	
Watershed Land Usage	33% Forest, 28% Ag, 17% Wetland, 15% Grassland, 7% Other	
Bottom Substrate	50% Sand, 50% Muck	
Max Depth (ft)	19	
Average Depth (ft)	4	



Figure 1. Lake Tomah bathymetric map.

RECORDING METRIC	2017	2018	2019	2021	2022
Secchi Disk Depth (ft)	1.8	2.6	1.5	-	-
Chlorophyll A	60	54	86	83	107
Total Phosphorus	181	210	136	152	434
DO Levels (mg/L)	10 to 15	9 to 11	11 to 13	-	-
Water Temperature (F)	66 to 76	68 to 82	70 to 80	-	-

Table 2. Lake Tomah summer (June-August) water quality sampling event averages or ranges.

Table 3. Lake Tomah fishing regulations between 2014 - 2024.

YEAR	SPECIES	REGULATION	HARVEST SEASON
Default	Panfish	25 in Total	Open Year Round
Default	Largemouth Bass	5 Fish ≥ 14 Inches	May 6th to March 3rd
2015	Largemouth Bass	1 Fish ≥ 18 Inches	May 6th to March 3rd
Default	Northern Pike	2 Fish ≥ 26 Inches	May 6th to March 3rd
2015	Northern Pike	1 Fish ≥ 32 Inches	May 6th to March 3rd
2022	Northern Pike	1 Fish ≥ 40 Inches	May 6th to March 3rd



Figure 2. Trophy northern pike from Lake Tomah newspaper clippings.



Lake Tomah yields monster northern

YEAR	SPECIES	SIZE	# STOCKED
2010	Bluegill	Adult	285
2010	Largemouth Bass	Adult	102
2010	Largemouth Bass	Large Fingerling	11,167
2011	Northern Pike	Small Fingerling	19,997
2011	Bluegill	Adult	44
2011	Bluegill	Small Fingerling	16,000
2011	Largemouth Bass	Adult	226
2011	Largemouth Bass	Large Fingerling	7,500
2012	Northern Pike	Small Fingerling	2,430
2012	Largemouth Bass	Large Fingerling	10,684
2015	Largemouth Bass	Large Fingerling	55,056
2018	Largemouth Bass	Large Fingerling	2,805

Table 4. Stocking events for Lake Tomah post the 2009 Rotenone treatment.

Table 5. Current fish species present in Lake Tomah.

Common Name	Scientific Name
Black Bullhead	Ameiurus melas
Black Crappie	Pomoxis nigromaculatus
Bluegill	Lepomis machrochirus
Brown Bullhead	Ameiurus nebulosus
Channel Catfish	Ictalurus punctatus
Creek Chub	Semotilus atromaculatus
Golden Shiner	Notemigonus crysoleucas
Largemouth Bass	Micropterus salmoides
Northern Pike	Esox lucius
Pumpkinseed	Lepomis gibbosus
Walleye	Sander vitreus
White Crappie	Pomoxis annularis
White Sucker	Catostomus commersonii
Yellow Bullhead	Amerius natalis
Yellow Perch	Perca flavescens



Figure 3. Bluegill length frequency from SEII (late spring) mini-boom electrofishing efforts targeting all species. The vertical line represents the median bluegill length.



Figure 4. Bluegill relative abundance from SEII (late spring) mini-boom electrofishing efforts targeting all species. The horizontal lines represent the 25th percentile, median, and 75th percentile of bluegill catches per mile in lakes with similar conditions (see methods).



Figure 5. Bluegill relative weight from 2017 SEII (late spring) mini-boom electrofishing efforts targeting all species. The horizontal line represents the median bluegill relative weight.



Figure 6. Black crappie length frequency from SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The vertical line represents the median black crappie length.



Figure 7. Black crappie relative abundance from SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The horizontal lines represent the 25th percentile, median, and 75th percentile of black crappie catches per net night in lakes with similar conditions (see methods).



Figure 8. Black crappie relative weight from 2017 SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The horizontal line represents the median black crappie relative weight.



Figure 9. White crappie length frequency from SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The vertical line represents the median white crappie length.



Figure 10. White crappie relative abundance from SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts.



Figure 11. White crappie relative weight from 2017 SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The horizontal line represents the median white crappie relative weight.

31

24



Figure 12. Yellow perch length frequency from SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The vertical line represents the median yellow perch length.



Figure 13. Yellow perch relative abundance from SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The horizontal lines represent the 25th percentile, median, and 75th percentile of yellow perch catches per net night in lakes with similar conditions (see methods).



Figure 14. Largemouth bass length frequency from 2017 and 2022 SEII (late spring) mini-boom electrofishing efforts targeting gamefish. The vertical line represents the median largemouth bass length.



Figure 15. Largemouth bass relative abundance from SEII (late spring) mini-boom electrofishing efforts targeting gamefish. The horizontal lines represent the 25th percentile, median, and 75th percentile of largemouth bass catches per mile in lakes with similar conditions (see methods).



Figure 16. Largemouth bass relative weight from 2017 SEII (late spring) mini-boom electrofishing efforts targeting gamefish. The horizontal line represents the median largemouth bass relative weight.



Figure 17. Northern pike length frequency by sex from SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The vertical line represents the median northern pike length.



Figure 18. Northern pike relative abundance by sex from SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The horizontal lines represent the 25th percentile, median, and 75th percentile of northern pike catches per net night in lakes with similar conditions (see methods).



Figure 19. Northern pike relative weight by sex from 2017-2018 SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The horizontal lines represent the median northern pike relative weight by sex.

37



Figure 20. Northern pike age frequency by sex from 2022 SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. The vertical line represents the median northern pike age.

YEAR	LOWER 95% CI	UPPER 95% CI
1	13.8	14.8
2	19.9	20.5
3	23.0	23.5
4	24.5	25.1
5	25.1	25.9
6	25.5	26.6

Table 6. Lake Tomah northern pike male growth equation confidence intervals.



Figure 21. Von Bertalanffy growth curves for northern pike by sex from 2022 SNII (late spring) fyke netting efforts. Dashed lines represent extrapolated portions of the curve. The shaded ribbon represents a bootstrapped 95% confidence interval. The green line represents the median of northern pike growth curves in lakes with similar conditions (see methods).

CITY OF TOMAH

819 Superior Avenue Tomah, WI 54660 Public Works Phone: (608) 374-7430

BOAT DOCK/LIFT PERMIT APPLICATION
Name: Jeff Larsen
Address: PO Box 818 Tomah W1 54660
Address where dock and lift will be located: BOI Lakeside Dr.
Please give the following general information regarding the boat dock:
Length (Max 24 lineal ft. from the shore)الها
Width (30"min72"max.)48 '`
Shape (straight, L or T)
Materials used (metal or treated wood) aluminum
As per City Ordinance Section 30-84 the following regulations must be met:
* All docks must be securely anchored to the shoreline
* No dock or lift may be placed in Lake Tomah before April 1 of the calendar year and all docks and lifts must be removed by October 15 of the same calendar year
* No dock shall include more than one boat lift per dock.
* All docks and lifts shall be subject to periodic inspection by the Public Works and Utilities Commission.
(A copy of City ordinance 30-84 is attached)
Approved Denied

Public Works and Utilities Director

Date